PREVENTIVE & THERAPEUTIC SEALANTS: THE ADDITION OF

SILVER NANOPARTICLES

An Undergraduate Research Scholars Thesis

by

MAEGAN BURRIER

Submitted to the LAUNCH: Undergraduate Research office at Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of requirements for the designation as an

UNDERGRADUATE RESEARCH SCHOLAR

Approved by Faculty Research Advisors:

Mikhail Umorin, Ph.D. Eric Fox, RDH, MS Amanda McNeil, RDH, MS

May 2023

Major:

Dental Hygiene, B.S.

Copyright © 2023. Maegan Burrier.

RESEARCH COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATION

Research activities involving the use of human subjects, vertebrate animals, and/or biohazards must be reviewed and approved by the appropriate Texas A&M University regulatory research committee (i.e., IRB, IACUC, IBC) before the activity can commence. This requirement applies to activities conducted at Texas A&M and to activities conducted at non-Texas A&M facilities or institutions. In both cases, students are responsible for working with the relevant Texas A&M research compliance program to ensure and document that all Texas A&M compliance obligations are met before the study begins.

I, Maegan Burrier, certify that all research compliance requirements related to this Undergraduate Research Scholars thesis have been addressed with my Faculty Research Advisors prior to the collection of any data used in this final thesis submission.

This project did not require approval from the Texas A&M University Research Compliance & Biosafety office.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ABSTRACT | 1 |
|--|---|
| DEDICATION | 3 |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | 4 |
| NOMENCLATURE | 5 |
| INTRODUCTION | 6 |
| 1. HISTORY OF SILVER NANOPARTICLES 1 | 0 |
| 2. SILVER NANOPARTICLES IN DENTISTRY 1 | 2 |
| 3. SILVER NANOPARTICLES IN SEALANTS 1 | 7 |
| 4. PUBLIC HEALTH IMPLICATIONS AND CONCERNS | 2 |
| CONCLUSION | 6 |
| REFERENCES | 8 |

ABSTRACT

Preventive & Therapeutic Sealants: The Addition of Silver Nanoparticles

Maegan Burrier Caruth School of Dental Hygiene, School of Dentistry Texas A&M University

Faculty Research Advisor: Mikhail Umorin, Ph.D. Caruth School of Dental Hygiene, School of Dentistry Texas A&M University

Research Faculty Advisor: Eric Fox, RDH, MS Caruth School of Dental Hygiene, School of Dentistry Texas A&M University

Research Faculty Advisor: Amanda McNeil, RDH, MS Caruth School of Dental Hygiene, School of Dentistry Texas A&M University

Dental caries is one of the most prevalent chronic diseases worldwide, known to affect individuals at all ages. Caries is a multifactorial disease that is driven by demineralization of the tooth structure. Demineralization occurs in the presence of carbohydrate fermenting bacteria, like *Streptococcus mutans*, an acidic pH, a cariogenic diet, and impaired salivary function. *S. mutans*, and other oral bacteria, form, without removal, a biofilm that releases acids and demineralizes the surface enamel. A common form of caries prevention is dental sealants, which are a mechanical barrier placed on the occlusal surface of a tooth. Sealants are able to physically block cariogenic bacteria, like *S. mutans*, and reduce demineralization but are not able to eliminate

bacteria from the tooth surface. The addition of an antibacterial component into sealant material, like silver nanoparticles, enhances the sealant's ability to prevent caries. Silver nanoparticles have shown antibacterial properties throughout the dental field. Within each dental specialty, except dental hygiene, these nanoparticles have shown bactericidal properties while decreasing bacterial surface adhesion and upholding the properties of the original material it was incorporated into. Though the use of silver nanoparticles is widespread, it has not been incorporated into dental sealants, which are commonly placed by dental hygienists. The placement of silver nanoparticle incorporated sealants by dental hygienists would provide both preventive and therapeutic benefits to society thereby increasing access to care.

DEDICATION

To my friends, families, instructors, and peers who supported me throughout the research process. Without your support, this could have never been accomplished.

To my mom, dad, and sister, thank you for always encouraging me to continue when it became difficult, you are all my biggest supporters. Mom, thank you for raising me in the likeness of you and giving me the determination to be the best version of myself every day. Dad, thank you for giving me the courage to stand up for what I know is right, always strive for perfection, and to work my hardest in all I do. McKenna, thank you for being a constant source of light and laughter and for always loving me on my toughest days.

To all of my family, thank you for the constant love and support throughout my life. You have all helped shape me into the woman I am today, for which I am forever thankful. To my Grandma and Grandpa Schneider, thank you for raising me to be tough enough to take on the world and still remember that love and compassion is capable of moving mountains. To my Granny and Popa Burrier, thank you for always loving me to the fullest and showing me that unconditional love takes many forms, including the form of chocolate kisses. To all of my aunts and uncles, thank you for always cheering me on from both close and afar.

To Jack, thank you for always being my proofreader for everything involving the dental field. Your constant love and encouragement has helped me to move mountains, and I cannot imagine a day without you in it.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Contributors

I would like to thank my faculty advisor, Dr. Mikhail Umorin, and my research mentors, and hygiene faculty, for their guidance and support throughout the course of this research. A special thanks to the professors who helped me to constantly work through this paper, including Mr. Eric Fox, Ms. Amanda McNeil, and Ms. Jane Cotter.

Thanks also go to my friends and colleagues and the department faculty and staff in the Dental Hygiene department for making my time at Texas A&M University a great experience.

Finally, thanks to my family for their encouragement and to my spouse for their patience and love. Without you all, I would have never been able to accomplish this.

Funding Sources

This undergraduate research project was not supported by any funding sources.

NOMENCLATURE

- ROS Reactive Oxygen Species
- SDF Silver Diamine Fluoride

INTRODUCTION

Dental caries is one of the most widespread chronic diseases seen globally, known to affect individuals at all ages.¹ Caries, or cavities as they are more commonly known, is a multifactorial disease that is extremely dynamic due to its periods of rapid demineralization and remineralization.¹ Demineralization occurs in the presence of biofilm and a cariogenic diet, where the tooth enamel begins to break down.¹ Organic acids, created by bacteria breaking down dietary fermentable carbohydrates, remove minerals from the enamel.¹ Repeated acid attacks, due to increased bacterial ability to adhere to enamel, without remineralization or removal results in caries.¹ The caries process is affected by dietary, salivary, and microbial factors which all play a causal role in the progression of this disease.²

The factors that play a causal role in the caries process occur daily within the oral cavity, allowing for multiple periods of both demineralization and remineralization. Cariogenic dietary factors include repeated ingestion of refined carbohydrates and oral medications that contain sugar.¹ Oral bacteria ferment these sources and produce acids, which drop the pH of the oral cavity.¹ Once the pH of the oral cavity falls below its critical level, 5.5 for enamel and 6.7 for root surfaces, demineralization of the tooth surface will occur.¹ Salivary factors play an important role due to their buffering ability within the mouth.¹ Impaired salivary flow is not able to buffer the pH of the oral cavity, resulting in continued periods of demineralization.¹ Along with these two important factors, bacterial pathogens also play a large role in the caries process.

One of the key microbial pathogens in the caries process is *Streptococcus mutans*. *S. mutans* is unusual among bacterial strains in its ability to colonize the oral cavity's acidic

environment.¹ S. mutans creates a biofilm that protects the bacteria and adheres to the tooth surface through the creation of a salivary pellicle.¹ The attachment of S. mutans to the salivary pellicle, made of a complex of proteins and glycoproteins, allows the bacteria to aggregate and create the biofilm.¹ Biofilm accumulates without mechanical or chemical removal, and leads to a build-up that calcifies into calculus. Calculus, or tartar, is a calcified dental biofilm which provides a rough surface for more biofilm to adhere to and is associated with inflammation in the oral cavity. This biofilm also contributes to the demineralization of the tooth structure by allowing for S. *mutans* and other bacteria to mature and secrete acids.³ These acids are produced by oral bacteria, therefore a diet high in carbohydrates creates the ideal environment for biofilm accumulation.³ Due to the role S. mutans holds in the aggregation of biofilms and creation of acid, it is able to remove tooth minerals.³ When demineralization is continuous, and remineralization does not occur, the minerals of the tooth surface are removed and this surface becomes softer.² This demineralized enamel surface refracts light differently than the surrounding enamel, giving it a powdery white look, otherwise known as a white spot lesion.² At this point in the caries process, this white spot is capable of being remineralized but will continue to stay the white color until remineralized by a dental professional. Thus, the accumulation of S. mutans, coupled with dietary, salivary, and other microbial factors are capable of producing tooth structure demineralization. When there are multiple, continuous periods of demineralization, with no remineralization during the process, we begin to see irreparable damage that leads to the caries process.

The remineralization process involves several protective factors, including a noncariogenic diet, normal salivary function, and utilizing preventive measures like fluoride and sealants.¹ A noncariogenic diet limits access to carbohydrates, primarily sugars, which

are used by bacteria to create organic acids.¹ Without access to these acids, there will not be a drop in pH nor demineralization of the tooth structure.¹ Salivary function is crucial in the maintenance of the pH of the oral cavity. The buffering capacity of saliva manages the pH by both removing fermentable carbohydrates in the mouth but also by neutralizing the acid produced by bacteria.¹ The remineralization of tooth enamel can also be accomplished through fluoride, which is able to reverse very early carious lesions.¹ The benefits of fluoride, when used in toothpaste and drinking water, are its ability to reduce demineralization by making the enamel more resistant to acids and strengthen the enamel by depositing fluoride ions into the tooth structure.¹ When these protective factors (write out all of them) work together, remineralization occurs through the neutralization of the pH of the oral cavity and tooth surface re-deposition with calcium, phosphate, and fluoride ions.¹ These remineralizing factors, including the use of preventive sealants, work to limit destruction of the enamel and allow for the enamel to remineralize.

Sealants are one of the most common measures applied by dental hygienists to reduce the occurrence of cavities in the pits and fissures of teeth. In the prevention of occlusal caries, sealants are considered the most appropriate treatment.⁴ Sealants are a mechanical barrier placed on the occlusal surfaces of a sound tooth as a preventative measure.⁵ The most common sealant material used is flowable composite resin based, which is able to occlude the deep pits and fissures to create a physical seal on the occlusal surface.⁴ The placement of the composite resin is done by acid etching the occlusal enamel, placing the composite resin, and curing with a light.⁴ By mechanically interlocking into the etched enamel, the composite resin is able to provide a physical barrier that has a higher resistance to bacteria, specifically *S. mutans*, and to demineralization than natural enamel.⁵ Sealants are continuing to be an

effective caries prevention for both children and adults in pits and fissures. The addition of supplemental materials may enhance the protective benefits of this preventative measure.

Silver nanoparticles have shown bactericidal effects against a variety of bacteria, including *S. mutans*, and reduced bacterial biofilm formation.⁶ Due to the high prevalence of dental caries worldwide, there is a need for the incorporation of a supplemental material into sealants to more effectively prevent occlusal caries and reduce the high prevalence.¹ The aim of this literature review is to discuss the multifactorial, dynamic process of dental caries, explore the use of silver and silver nanoparticles in the medical and dental fields, present the current evidence of silver nanoparticles incorporated into sealants, and discuss the use of silver nanoparticles incorporated into sealants, and discuss the use of silver nanoparticles incorporated into sealants, and discuss the use of silver nanoparticles incorporated into sealants, and discuss the use of silver nanoparticles incorporated into sealants, and discuss the use of silver nanoparticles incorporated into sealants, and discuss the use of silver nanoparticles incorporated incorporated sealants placed by dental hygienists. Some recommendations regarding further research include determining an optimal concentration of silver nanoparticles when incorporated into sealants, along with determining the longevity of the silver ion released in the oral cavity.

1. HISTORY OF SILVER NANOPARTICLES

Historical research indicates that silver has been used by different cultures in different materials due to its antibacterial properties. In early medicine, silver water vessels were used to keep the water fresh throughout Europe.⁷ Silver was also used by Mediterranean cultures as foil to prevent wound infection.⁷ The turning point of the importance of silver in medicine was the discovery of topical silver nitrate's impact on burn patients, which revolutionized burn care.⁷ Researchers noted that no bacterial resistance was seen to silver nitrate in over 1300 wound cultures within the first seven months of application.⁷ To this day, silver nitrate remains one of the first-line agents administered in burn units.⁸ Once the antibacterial properties of silver were observed, there was an expansion of medical research into silver and its compounds.⁷ The use of silver was primarily focused on preventing the development of biofilm accumulation in catheters, venous lines, and endotracheal tubes which can lead to nosocomial infection.⁷ The patients requiring these treatment modalities are often in the hospital due to existing infection and the addition of silver into these treatment methods showed a significant decrease in any concomitant infection.⁷ Thus, the continuous use of silver is due to its broad spectrum, low toxicity, and lack of bacterial resistance.

As the field of nanoparticles has become more advanced, silver nanoparticles have the known antibacterial properties of silver were observed in silver. These nanoparticles show a wide range of antibacterial, antifungal, and antiviral activities.⁹ Silver nanoparticles have shown a strong effect on gram negative bacteria, like *Escherichia coli* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*.¹⁰ Gram positive bacteria, like *Staphylococcus aureus*, are impacted as well, but to a lesser extent.¹⁰

The specific components of the nanoparticles, size, shape, and concentration, are responsible for different antibacterial properties. Most nanoparticles range between the size of 1 to 100 nm. Though there is a range in nanoparticle sizes, research has shown as the particle size decreases the antibacterial effect increases.¹⁰ In comparison to larger particles of 100 nm, smaller particles of 80 nm or less showed effective penetration of normal and tumor-associated blood vessels.¹⁰ Even smaller particles of 10 and 20 nm showed an increase in cytotoxicity when compared to particles of 100 nm.¹⁰ Blood vessel penetration and cytotoxicity both contribute to the antibacterial effects seen in silver nanoparticles, therefore these smaller, more potent nanoparticles were considered as a good additive in dental materials.¹⁰

The evolution of nanoscience has led to the use of silver nanoparticles in dentistry, which has aided in the disruption of the caries process.⁹ These nanoparticles adhere to the bacterial cell wall where they disrupt the structure and cause a higher permeability.⁹ An oxidative stress response is also triggered in the bacterial cell, where high levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) lead to obstruction of ATP generation, cell DNA destruction, and ultimately cell death.¹¹ Due to these factors, silver nanoparticles have shown a strong effect against *S. mutans* and *Lactobacillus spp.*, two bacteria seen in the caries process.⁶ There are several studies that have tested the antimicrobial properties of silver nanoparticles against *S. mutans* in vitro, and has shown their effectiveness against cariogenic bacteria.¹² The properties that allowed for silver to become significant in the medical field extended into the dental field in many different specialties.

2. SILVER NANOPARTICLES IN DENTISTRY

Silver nanoparticles has been used in the dental field primarily in work done by dentists, which includes restorative procedures meant to make permanent changes in the oral cavity. One of the most important components of these restorations is their antibacterial property and inhibition of demineralization, while also allowing the oral structure to function normally. Due to the qualities of these nanoparticles, various specialties have incorporated them into their dental materials to take advantage of their antibacterial properties. Within the dental field, these nanoparticles are implemented in specialties like general comprehensive dentistry, prosthodontics, endodontics, periodontics, pediatrics, and most popularly, orthodontics.¹¹

In comprehensive dentistry, silver nanoparticles are most commonly used in composite material and in silver diamine fluoride as an antibacterial agent. Composite material is typically placed after the removal of a carious lesion, which is meant to restore function and architecture within the mouth. Once this composite material is placed, carious lesions can develop around the composite restoration which is appropriately named recurrent or secondary caries.¹³ When combined with composite material, silver nanoparticles have a preventative effect on the adherence of bacterial biofilm.¹¹ This reduces the rate of recurrent caries which is commonly seen due to poor oral hygiene leading to a biofilm accumulation.¹¹ Along with these antibacterial properties, it has also been shown to add to the shear composite strength, allowing for less breakage of the restoration over time.¹⁴ Silver nanoparticles can also be added to the bonding material used to bind the composite resin material to the tooth surface. When added to the bonding usent, it was shown to have stronger inhibitory action against *S. mutans* compared to other commonly used bonding agents.¹¹

Another way in which silver nanoparticles have been implemented into general dentistry is through silver diamine fluoride. Silver diamine fluoride (SDF) is considered a gold standard in the prevention and control of caries.¹² SDF is best utilized in pediatric populations, areas with a shortage of dental care health professionals or a lack of access to care, and in geriatric and special needs populations. SDF is applied to teeth surfaces with active decay, where it is used for its antibacterial properties.¹² One of the side effects of SDF is that it stains the carious lesions black, yet the benefits of this product highly outweigh the adverse effects.¹² As a whole, silver nanoparticles have made a significant impact on the field of general dentistry through its antibacterial properties.

In the prosthodontic specialty, silver nanoparticles have been incorporated into common compounds used to make prosthetic devices. When silver nanoparticles were incorporated into silicones, there were antibacterial effects seen. ¹⁵ In this same study, the incorporation into alginates showed no change to the mechanical properties of the material.¹⁵ These two compounds are used to cast impressions of the oral cavity for the creation of a prosthetic, therefore antibacterial properties are important in reducing the transfer of bacteria through these compounds. On the other end of the prosthesis creation process, polymethyl methacrylate is a common compound used to create acrylic prostheses.¹⁵ This process, however, is associated with *Candida albicans* infection within the oral cavity.¹⁵ *Candida albicans* causes a fungal infection, which is typically treated by intensive cleaning with chemicals known to cause damage to the surface of the prosthesis.¹⁵ By incorporating silver nanoparticles into polymethyl methacrylate, there was a decrease in surface roughness and reduction of *C. albicans* due to its diminished ability to adhere to the surface of the prosthesis.¹⁵ A compound used to create mouthguards, ethylene-vinyl acetate copolymer masterbatch, was studied for the inclusion of silver

nanoparticles as well.¹⁵ The study showed a bacteriostatic effect seen against *E. coli*, *Streptococcus sobrinus*, and *Porphyrmonas gingivalis* along with no change seen to the mouthguard material during the experiment.¹⁵ Within prosthodontics, silver nanoparticles have shown overall antibacterial properties and decreased bacterial surface adhesion with no appreciable loss of material strength.

In the endodontic specialty, silver nanoparticles have been used within root canal treatment as an antibacterial agent. The success rate of a root canal treatment is determined by its ability to eliminate the bacteria within the pulp canal that which lead to decreased tooth vitality.¹¹ One study measured the antibacterial properties of silver nanoparticles as both a root canal filling material and as an irrigant.¹¹ Nanoparticles showed marginal effects as an irrigant, however they were able to penetrate deeper when compared with other irrigants commonly used in root canal therapy.¹¹ Silver nanoparticles were used as a coating to gutta percha, a common filler used in root canals, where they showed less microleakage in comparison to normal gutta percha.¹¹ Less microleakage is required within the root canal system, due to leakage resulting from the ability of bacteria to penetrate into the system.¹¹ Thus, within endodontics, the treatment of root canals has changed due to the antibacterial effects of silver nanoparticles.

In the periodontics specialty, silver nanoparticles have been used in dental implants as an antibacterial agent. Dental implants are dependable treatment choices in the replacement of lost teeth when compared to removable prosthesis and bridges.¹¹ Even though implants are considered biocompatible, the growth of biofilm and aggregation of bacteria can cause implant failure.¹¹ This implant failure due to bacteria is peri-implant infection, which can be prevented by implementing an antibacterial component into the implant surface.¹¹ In a study done on silver nanoparticles and titanium implants, the nanoparticles were coated along the implant surface to

prevent adherence of bacterial biofilms to the surface of the implants.¹¹ The conclusion of this study showed bacteriostatic activity along with the release of silver ions into the oral cavity, which is known to have a bactericidal effect long term.¹¹ Along with antibacterial effects, the coating of silver nanoparticles onto implants has also shown little cytotoxicity within the oral cavity.¹¹ Thus, in periodontics, silver nanoparticles have contributed to the creation of functional and bactericidal tooth implants.

In the pediatric specialty, silver nanoparticles have proven themselves as a potent antibacterial agent with the added benefit of being antifungal and antiviral. Silver nanoparticles have been used in the form of silver nanofluoride, which is the combination of the nanoparticles with fluoride.¹⁶ Silver nanofluoride has been used to arrest carious lesions, where after a year of use, 66.7% of carious lesions were arrested and there was no evidence of staining on the teeth surfaces.¹⁶ Silver nanoparticles have also shown a greater ability to remineralize enamel in comparison to sodium fluoride, with the added benefits of inhibiting the growth of microorganisms.¹² In pediatrics, silver nanoparticles have changed the way carious lesions are arrested in children and shown their ability to remineralize enamel.

In the orthodontic specialty, silver nanoparticles have become a popular addition to orthodontic brackets, bracket bonding, and wires due to its antibacterial properties and ability to inhibit demineralization.¹¹ As a whole, the patients receiving orthodontic treatment are more prone to caries formation and white spot lesions due to plaque formation around the appliance when compared to those not in orthodontic treatment.¹² This susceptibility is due to a higher surface area for bacterial growth and difficulty in managing good oral hygiene.¹⁷ When silver nanoparticles were implemented into orthodontic appliances, there was inhibition of *S. mutans* seen along with limiting adhesion of bacteria.¹¹ When implemented into cements and adhesives

that bond the bracket to the tooth, there was evidence showing prevention of demineralization.¹⁸ This prevention was seen through the deterrence of biofilm, which plays a casual role in the demineralization process.¹⁷ By inhibiting the growth of biofilm communities and preventing demineralization, there is a higher prevention of white spot lesion formation seen when implementing silver nanoparticles.¹⁹

The use of silver nanoparticles in dentistry has been limited to procedures that are restorative and permanent in nature. The use of the nanoparticles solely within these forms of procedures has restricted their benefits, which have made them currently inaccessible to populations needing preventive dental care. Along with this restriction, the lack of expansion of silver nanoparticles into the practices of dental hygiene shows failure to progress this field as new technology arises. By implementing silver nanoparticles into commonly performed dental hygiene procedures, like sealants, there will be an increase in access to better care for populations needing preventive dental work. By championing preventive care, there will be less need for later restorative care and an overall increased quality of life.⁵

3. SILVER NANOPARTICLES IN SEALANTS

With the addition of silver nanoparticles into temporary preventive procedures, like sealants, there will be similar effects seen as to what has been overwhelmingly noticed in permanent restorative dental work. Silver nanoparticles have already shown the capacity to work within a substance made for physical blockage, as seen in composite resins.¹¹ These nanoparticles have also shown significant antibacterial impacts throughout the field of dentistry, which will not be limited by the sealant material. One of the main purposes behind the use of sealants is to limit the effects of the main caries causing agents, like *S. mutans*, which silver nanoparticles has shown in research settings involving orthodontic brackets and wires.¹¹ The antibacterial characteristics of silver nanoparticles will be corroborated through the incorporation into sealant material.

The implementation of silver nanoparticles into sealants has shown beneficial qualities in research settings. In these studies, these nanoparticles have exhibited similar properties to what has been seen in permanent restorative work. Due to this silver nanoparticle technology being relatively new, studies on safety and efficacy are needed in order to allow this practice to become a standard of care in the dental field. The completed research has shown the preventative actions of the silver nanoparticles were able to be compounded with the efforts of the sealant to more effectively prevent caries, while also impeding the demineralization of enamel. The literature has shown that the implementation of silver nanoparticles into sealants is feasible and beneficial to the health of the oral cavity.

The incorporation of silver nanoparticles into sealants has three steps, including the synthesis of nanoparticles, the inclusion of the nanoparticles into the sealant material, and the

placement of the sealant into the oral cavity. The synthesis of silver nanoparticles has three primary methods including chemical, physical, and biological.¹⁵ The most common route for synthesis in dentistry is the chemical route, where Ag^{+1} is reduced to Ag^{0} through chemical processes.¹⁵ There are two primary chemical agents that assist in this reduction, including reduction agents and stabilizers.¹⁵ The reduction agents reduce the silver ion, while the stabilizers stabilize nanoparticles that are dispersive and protect the nanoparticles from clustering together.¹⁵ Once this nanoparticle is synthesized, it is stored at a low temperature and protected from light.¹⁵ The process of implementing silver nanoparticles into sealants has been shown in studies where both the inclusion of the nanoparticles and application of the sealant material were detailed. The inclusion process of the nanoparticles included mixing ClinproTM sealant material with silver nanopowder of particle size ranging from 50 nm to 80 nm.²⁰ A homogenous mixture was obtained using an amalgamator, and the mixture was reloaded back into the original syringe in a dark container.²⁰ Before sealing the tooth, 32% phosphoric acid gel was placed for 15 seconds and rinsed for 10 seconds to etch the tooth.²⁰ The silver nanoparticle-added sealant was then applied and cured with an LED light for 40 seconds.²⁰ Once placed, the silver nanoparticles will continuously release silver ions, due to redox reactions, in the presence of water.¹⁵ This release of silver is one of the mechanisms of action of silver nanoparticles, and contributes to their biological activity against a multitude of bacteria and fungi.¹⁵

The antibacterial activity of silver nanoparticles within sealants has been discussed in research due to their bactericidal capability. Silver nanoparticles used are mostly in the size of 40-80 nm, which contributes to their ability to penetrate dentinal tubules as well as cause damage to bacteria.^{21, 22} Due to this small size, these nanoparticles are able to cause structural changes in cell membranes and the peptidoglycan cell walls which increase the permeability of the cell and

are capable of inducing cell death.²² Silver nanoparticles have also shown prevention of bacterial DNA replication through interactions with the sulfhydryl groups in bacterial proteins.²² Though these nanoparticles have shown bactericidal effects, it is safe to incorporate into sealants and there has been no harm seen to host cells.²³ As a result of their antibacterial actions, silver nanoparticles also decrease the adherence and growth of cariogenic bacteria, specifically *S. mutans*.¹⁷ Due to *S. mutans* being one of the main factors in the caries process leading to demineralization, there was an observed inhibition of demineralization when silver nanoparticles were incorporated into sealants.²¹ Silver nanoparticles were also seen to have a positive effect on the remineralization of tooth enamel after being demineralized when compared to conventional sealants.²¹ Thus, the incorporation of silver nanoparticles into sealants shows similar bactericidal capability when compared to the use in other dental specialties.

When compared to the standard sealant, the addition of silver nanoparticles also does not change the beneficial effects of the physical seal of the sealant. Prior research has shown the incorporation of silver nanoparticles into the sealant does not hinder its ability to seal the tooth structure.²⁰ When examining microleakage, which is the ability for bacteria and other molecules to penetrate the margins of the sealant, there was no difference between sealants with the silver nanoparticle addition and the standard sealant.²⁰ Along with no change in mechanical strength, there is no staining seen on the enamel or sealant after placement, which is important in comparison to other silver products, like silver diamine fluoride, where the tooth structure is stained a dark black.¹² Silver diamine fluoride is known to form oxides when in contact with oxygen in the environment, which is not seen in silver nanoparticles.¹²

Along with being incorporated into the sealant material, silver nanoparticles have been utilized in the etching systems used in sealant placement. The two primary adhesive systems

used are the total-etch and the self-etch approaches.²³ The etching systems work by etching the tooth surface to allow for the flowable compound of the sealant to mechanically interlock into the enamel surface.⁵ When implemented into the total-etch approach, these nanoparticles were seen to enhance the penetration of phosphoric acid into the tubules, increase the depth of the etch, and increase the bond quality.²³ When used in the self-etch approach, there was a reduction seen in microleakage and an increase in the quality of the bond.²³ Thus, silver nanoparticles have shown benefits for total-etch and self-etch adhesive systems' binding strength.¹⁴ Altogether, the use of silver nanoparticles in both the etching systems and the sealant itself has shown positive effects on the quality and longevity of the sealant.

The incorporation of silver nanoparticles was not the first time there has been a nanoparticle incorporated into sealants. Two of the other nanoparticles included in the past are zinc oxide, ZnO, and calcium fluoride, CaF₂. The sealants that zinc oxide and calcium fluoride nanoparticles were incorporated into both demonstrated antibacterial activity countering *S*. *mutans*.²⁴ These nanoparticles were also tested regarding their mechanical properties, where incorporation of zinc oxide showed no change in properties when compared to a convention sealant and incorporation of calcium fluoride showed less mechanical quality.²⁴ The important quality regarding zinc is its ability to inhibit acid production by *S.mutans*, and for calcium fluoride is its fluoride component.²⁴ When comparing these other additions to sealants, silver nanoparticles also demonstrate antibacterial activity against *S. mutans* and have similar mechanical properties to a conventional sealant.¹⁶ The main difference seen separating these sealant inclusions is in the way they are antibacterial. Silver nanoparticles have shown to provide antibacterial effects thereby halting biofilm accumulation by inhibiting *S. mutans*, compared to zinc oxide which limits acid production by *S. mutans*, ^{11, 24} On the other hand, calcium fluoride is

used primarily for its fluoride releasing property.²⁴ As a whole, all three of these incorporations have shown positive effects within sealants and prove the addition of nanoparticles into sealants is feasible.

In addition to nanoparticle incorporation into sealant, there has also been a utilization of other materials like glass ionomer. Glass ionomer is used in the place of the resin in a conventional sealant, and is one of the most popular alternatives to a conventional resin sealant. Glass ionomer is known for its fluoride-releasing qualities, which contributes to caries prevention.²⁵ It is incorporated into the sealant due to its release of fluoride as well as its moisture friendly characteristic which is a stark contrast to the normal hydrophobic qualities of sealant material.²⁵ The downside to this material is the lack of retention, where a conventional sealant has a much higher retention rate compared to glass ionomer.²⁵ In order to solve this problem, a resin-modified glass ionomer sealant was created which improved the physical characteristics.²⁵ In comparison to silver nanoparticles, the glass ionomer's ability to release fluoride also helps with remineralization of the tooth structure. The glass ionomer's retention rate is less than a conventional sealant, whereas a sealant incorporated with silver nanoparticles has no change in retention in comparison with a conventional sealant. Overall, the popularity of the glass ionomer sealant shows the beneficial quality of the fluoride is considered more important than the retention rate. Thus, silver nanoparticle incorporated sealants, which have the beneficial quality of being antibacterial and have a similar retention rate to conventional sealants, may have a substantial impact in clinical settings.

4. PUBLIC HEALTH IMPLICATIONS AND CONCERNS

Outside of clinical settings, silver nanoparticle incorporated sealants are an invaluable addition to dental public health programs. A common public health program is school sealant programs, which are a cost-effective and preventive measure to prevent posterior caries.²⁶ Such effective prevention is possible because in children, around 90% of dental caries in permanent teeth occur in the pit and fissures of posterior teeth.²⁶ School sealant programs are an effective way to deliver sealants to children who would otherwise have not received them.²⁶ It has been shown that after two years of retention, sealants prevent 80% of cavities occurring in permanent molars compared to molars without sealant treatment.²⁶ By implementing silver nanoparticle incorporated sealants into these programs, the children will receive the same retention rate and microleakage as a conventional sealant.²⁰ This is then compounded with the sealants ability to also decrease the adherence and growth of cariogenic bacteria, like *S. mutans*.¹⁷ In populations where children are at a higher risk for dental caries, sealants that are able to provide both preventive and therapeutic effects are critical in reducing caries.

Though sealant placement is primarily focused on children and adolescents, the adult and geriatric populations have a similar need for caries prevention on the pit and fissures of posterior teeth. A significant amount of these populations are on life-long therapies that can produce oral complications, like xerostomia, which increases the susceptibility to caries.⁵ These populations typically are not given sealants as a preventive measure, even though the pit and fissures of posterior teeth are eight times more vulnerable than smooth surfaces.⁵ The focus of sealant application on children is due to teeth being the most susceptible during eruption, yet research has shown posterior teeth remain equally susceptible to caries years after eruption and possibly

indefinitely.⁵ The adult and geriatric populations are at just as high of a risk as children for dental caries when combining the vulnerability of posterior teeth with the oral complications arising from age and medical treatment. By applying popular dental public health programs, like school sealant programs, to the general population within dental public health clinics, it will increase access to care and decrease the need for restorative care in later years.

Within dental public health programs, one of the main goals is to provide care to populations with difficulty accessing care. By providing dental hygienists with a preventive and therapeutic treatment, it may decrease disparities in access to preventive care. Dental hygienists have the clinical skills to apply dental sealants, but ultimately a dentist is in charge of the screening process.⁵ Research has shown when hygienists place sealants, there is efficiency in staff use and overall time management of the clinic, when compared to placement by a dentist. ⁵ It would also be cost effective for a clinic to utilize its hygienists for sealant placement, rather than its dentists.⁵ By allowing hygienists to place preventive and therapeutic sealants, it is allowing for greater access to care in a more efficient and cost-effective way.

The use of silver nanoparticles incorporated into a preventive treatment, like sealants, will show the public the importance of preventive care in dentistry. In general, oral health is viewed by the public as something to be dealt with when there is a problem, like a toothache. This misunderstanding stems from a lack of knowledge of the importance of oral healthcare preventive measures, like sealants and maintaining appropriate biyearly, or more frequent, visits to a dental office. An extension of dental providers work includes promoting preventive care and tailoring this care to the oral needs of their patient. The responsibilities of dental hygienists focus primarily on preventive care and patient education regarding the importance of preventive oral healthcare measures. By allowing hygienists to promote preventive care through silver

nanoparticle incorporated sealants, the importance of preventive care will be better understood by the general public and practiced in dentistry.

Though this treatment method provides many compounded benefits not currently provided in clinical settings, there could be concerns that arise which cause limited use of silver nanoparticle incorporated sealants.

A concern regarding silver nanoparticle incorporated sealants include the safety of the treatment. Many parents have expressed concerns regarding fluoride and BPAs in the past, and silver nanoparticles have shown accumulation and toxicity in rats and mice in some studies.²⁷ Though silver has been shown to be harmless to host cells, due to its toxicity to microorganisms there could be doubt in its mechanisms.²³ Another possible doubt could be the ingestion of this sealant after placement, and the effects on the body due to the ingestion. Fluoride is beneficial to the oral cavity in regulated doses, yet some parents still are hesitant due to the negative outcomes seen in extreme circumstances. This trend could continue with the use of silver nanoparticles, even though these nanoparticles have shown to be non-toxic in the oral cavity. If this trend does continue, more research will be needed focusing on toxicity specifically to silver nanoparticles incorporated into sealant material both in the oral cavity and if ingested.

Another concern regarding the incorporation of silver nanoparticles includes the feasibility. The price of incorporating silver nanoparticles into sealants has not been discussed in research, and these nanoparticles may be too expensive. If they are too expensive, their use in clinical dentistry could be limited and their use in public health would be eliminated. Their price could also delay the timing with which the silver nanoparticle incorporated sealants are used in clinical dentistry and public health. Along with price being a concern, the speed with which these sealants are able widely used in dentistry is an issue to consider. Glass ionomer sealants have

slowly become more popular since their invention, yet resin-based sealants are still the most widely used. It is concerning that silver nanoparticle incorporated sealants may assume a subsidiary role compared to the conventional sealant, even with its antibacterial capabilities.

Regarding the studies currently available discussing the incorporation of silver nanoparticles into sealants, there are a few areas needing more research. This material needs to have an optimal concentration of silver nanoparticles identified, which will allow for the greatest antibacterial effect while limiting toxicity. Along with this, more studies will be needed to determine the longevity of the silver nanoparticles and for how long ion release will occur in the oral cavity.

CONCLUSION

As a whole, the benefits outweigh the possible consequences when exploring the incorporation of silver nanoparticles into sealants. Throughout history, the benefits of silver have been shown in both the medical and dental field. In both of these fields, the antibacterial properties of silver have proven themselves and use of silver continues as technology advances. Silver nanoparticles stood out due to their potent antibacterial ability in a small size, and has been incorporated into many common treatments. Within dentistry, silver nanoparticles have been adapted for treatment within almost every specialty, including dental hygiene.

The use of silver nanoparticles into dental hygiene was through incorporation into conventional resin sealants. By incorporating these nanoparticles into sealant material, the antibacterial activity continued to be seen along with an inhibition of demineralization. These effects were compounded with the mechanical seal of the conventional sealant, allowing for both preventive and therapeutic activity. Treatment offered by dental hygienists are typically only preventive when involving carious lesions, which is different compared to this form of sealant. By allowing this sealant to inhibit the further demineralization of enamel and have an antibacterial effect against *S. mutans*, the use of silver nanoparticles is impeding the caries process and distinguishing this treatment as therapeutic.

By allowing hygienists to place both preventive and therapeutic forms of treatment, it will increase access to care. By increasing access to care, especially in high-risk populations, there will be a decrease in restorative care needed later down the road. This can be applied to not only the child and adolescent populations, but also the adult and geriatric populations. The inclusion of all generations of people when considering sealant treatment, especially in public

health practices, will lead to the importance of preventive care being acknowledged by the general public.

In the public eye, oral health is not connected to systemic health, yet these systems could not be more connected. Preventive care is seen in the medical field, where yearly check-ups and medications are given to prevent health complications. In the dental field, preventive care is not considered as important when compared to the medical field, especially in the adult and geriatric populations. The lack of demand for preventive care stems from lack of education of the importance of oral preventive care. Dental healthcare providers have a responsibility to educate their patients on the consequences of disregarding preventive care. By championing preventive care for all populations through the use of silver nanoparticle incorporated sealants, dental healthcare providers may see an increase in demand for preventive treatment. As a whole, an increased emphasis on the importance of preventive care coupled with silver nanoparticle incorporated sealants may change the way oral health is viewed.

REFERENCES

- 1. Pitts, N. B. et al. "Dental Caries." *Nat Rev Dis Primers*, vol. 3, 2017, p. 17030, Medline, doi:10.1038/nrdp.2017.30.
- 2. Pathak, Sidhant, et al. "White Spot Lesions: A Literature Review." *Journal of Pediatric Dentistry*, vol. 3, no. 1, 2015, p. 1., https://doi.org/10.4103/2321-6646.151839.
- Krzysciak, W. et al. "The Virulence of Streptococcus Mutans and the Ability to Form Biofilms." *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis*, vol. 33, no. 4, 2014, pp. 499-515, Medline, doi:10.1007/s10096-013-1993-7.
- Jafarzadeh, M. et al. "Retention of a Flowable Composite Resin in Comparison to a Conventional Resin-Based Sealant: One-Year Follow-Up." *J Dent* (Tehran), vol. 7, no. 1, 2010, pp. 1-5, PubMed-not-MEDLINE, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21998768.
- 5. Gore DR. "The use of dental sealants in adults: a long-neglected preventive measure." *Int J Dent Hyg.* Aug 2010;8(3):198-203. doi:10.1111/j.1601-5037.2009.00425.x
- Li, F., Fang, M., Peng, Y. et al. Antibacterial properties of nano silver-containing orthodontic cements in the rat caries disease model. J. Wuhan Univ. Technol.-*Mat. Sci. Edit.* 30, 1291–1296 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11595-015-1310-7
- 7. Barillo, D. J., & Marx, D. E. (2014). Silver in medicine: A brief history BC 335 to present. *Burns*, 40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.burns.2014.09.009
- 8. Barillo, D. J. Topical antimicrobials in burn wound care: a recent history. *Wounds*, 20 (7) (2008), pp. 192-198.
- 9. Noronha VT, Paula AJ, Duran G, et al. Silver nanoparticles in dentistry. *Dent Mater*. Oct 2017;33(10):1110-1126. doi:10.1016/j.dental.2017.07.002
- Xu, L., Wang, Y.-Y., Huang, J., Chen, C.-Y., Wang, Z.-X., & amp; Xie, H. Silver nanoparticles: Synthesis, medical applications and Biosafety. *Theranostics*, 10(20), (2020: 8996–9031. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.45413

- 11. Bapat, R. A. et al. "An Overview of Application of Silver Nanoparticles for Biomaterials in Dentistry." *Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl*, vol. 91, 2018, pp. 881-98, Medline, doi:10.1016/j.msec.2018.05.069.
- Butrón Téllez Girón C, Hernández Sierra JF, DeAlba-Montero I, Urbano Peña MLA, Ruiz F. Therapeutic Use of Silver Nanoparticles in the Prevention and Arrest of Dental Caries. *Bioinorg Chem Appl.* 2020;2020:8882930. doi:10.1155/2020/8882930
- Nedeljkovic, I., De Munck, J., Vanloy, A. et al. Secondary caries: prevalence, characteristics, and approach. *Clin Oral Invest* 24, 683–691 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00784-019-02894-0
- 14. Fatemeh, Koohpeima et al. "The effect of silver nanoparticles on composite shear bond strength to dentin with different adhesion protocols." *Journal of applied oral science* : revista FOB vol. 25,4 (2017): 367-373. doi:10.1590/1678-7757-2016-0391
- 15. Fernandez CC, Sokolonski AR, Fonseca MS, et al. Applications of silver nanoparticles in dentistry: Advances and technological innovation. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 2021;22(5):2485. doi:10.3390/ijms22052485
- Khubchandani M, Thosar NR, Dangore-Khasbage S, Srivastava R. Applications of silver nanoparticles in pediatric dentistry: An overview. *Cureus*. July 2022. doi:10.7759/cureus.26956
- León Francisco Espinosa-Cristóbal, Natalie López-Ruiz, Denisse Cabada-Tarín, et al, "Antiadherence and Antimicrobial Properties of Silver Nanoparticles against Streptococcus mutans on Brackets and Wires Used for Orthodontic Treatments", *Journal* of Nanomaterials, vol. 2018, Article ID 9248527, 11 pages, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/9248527
- Eslamian, Ladan, et al. "Evaluation of the Shear Bond Strength and Antibacterial Activity of Orthodontic Adhesive Containing Silver Nanoparticle, an In-Vitro Study." *Nanomaterials*, vol. 10, no. 8, July 2020, p. 1466. Crossref, https://doi.org/10.3390/nano10081466.
- Sánchez-Tito M, Tay LY. Antibacterial and white spot lesions preventive effect of an orthodontic resin modified with silver-nanoparticles. *J Clin Exp Dent*. Jul 2021;13(7):e685-e691. doi:10.4317/jced.58330
- 20. Sarah M. Khairy, Magda M. El-Tekeya, Niveen S. Bakry, et al. "Evaluation of

microleakage of silver nanoparticle-added pit and fissure sealant in permanent teeth (invitro study)". *Alexandria Dental Journal*, 45, 2, 2020, 14-18. doi: 10.21608/adjalexu.2020.86763

- Salas-Lopez EK, Pierdant-Perez M, Hernandez-Sierra JF, Ruiz F, Mandeville P, Pozos-Guillen AJ. Effect of silver nanoparticle-added pit and fissure sealant in the prevention of dental caries in children. J *Clin Pediatr Dent.* 2017;41(1):48–52.
- Corrêa JM, Mori M, Sanches HL, Cruz AD, Poiate E, Poiate IA. Silver nanoparticles in dental biomaterials. *International Journal of Biomaterials*. 2015;2015:1-9. doi:10.1155/2015/485275
- 23. Koohpeima F, Mokhtari MJ, Rezaie AH. Effect of Silver Nanoparticles on Microleakage and cytotoxicity of New Universal Adhesive. *J Dent Mater Tech* 2022; 11(3): 143-151.
- 24. Swetha DL, Vinay C, Uloopi KS, Roja Ramya KS, Chandrasekhar R. Antibacterial and Mechanical Properties of Pit and Fissure Sealants Containing Zinc Oxide and Calcium Fluoride Nanoparticles. *Contemp Clin Dent*. 2019;10(3):477-482. doi:10.4103/ccd.ccd 805 18
- 25. Colombo S, Beretta M. Dental Sealants Part 3: Which material? Efficiency and effectiveness. *European Journal of Paediatric Dentistry*. 2018;19:247-249. doi:10.23804/ejpd.2018.19.03.15
- 26. Griffin SO, Naavaal S, Scherrer C, Patel M, Chattopadhyay S. Evaluation of schoolbased Dental Sealant Programs: An updated Community Guide Systematic Economic Review. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*. 2017;52(3):407-415. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2016.10.004
- 27. Ferdous Z, Nemmar A. Health impact of silver nanoparticles: A review of the biodistribution and toxicity following various routes of exposure. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 2020;21(7):2375. doi:10.3390/ijms21072375